IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERC SUPPLIES COUNTY

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

STANLEY B. GELMAN,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 68,198

CASE NO.: 68,512

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN A. WEISS Post Office Box 1167 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 681-9010

Counsel for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 15 of the Florida Constitution.

Subsequent to the appropriate probable cause findings, The Florida Bar filed two complaints in the Supreme Court alleging one count of misconduct on the first complaint, and two counts on the second. The cases were assigned to the Honorable E. L. Eastmoore for consideration. Final hearing was held on July 17th and July 23rd, 1986. The Referee's Report was filed in the Supreme Court on August 19, 1986.

Respondent appeals those findings of fact and recommendations as to discipline contained in the Referee's Report.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Case Number 68,198:

On or about June 25, 1982, Respondent's client, Walter Williams, entered into an option agreement with Harold Hart to purchase 25% of a new corporation named Hart Enterprises. The total cost of the shares of Hart Enterprises was \$10. The option had to be exercised no later than June 25, 1983.

On June 7, 1983, Mr. Williams hand-delivered a check for \$10 to Mr. Hart in an attempt to exercise his option to

purchase. Mr. Williams had written "25% of New Corp. (Hart Enterprises)" on the reference line on the \$10 check (TR-87). Mr. Hart neither negotiated the check nor issued the stock in Mr. Williams' name.

On June 24, 1983, Respondent hand-delivered a letter to Mr. Hart's residence on behalf of Mr. Williams purporting to exercise an option to purchase one-third of the shares of Hart Enterprises, Inc. Along with that letter Respondent enclosed a check for \$10 made payable to Harold Hart with a notation in the upper right hand corner "Walter Williams-Purchase Hart Enterprises Stock (one-third)."

Mr. Hart neither negotiated Respondent's check nor responded to his transmittal letter. He never transferred any shares of Hart Enterprises, Inc. to Mr. Williams.

In November, 1983, Respondent filed suit against Hart on behalf of Williams seeking enforcement of the option agreement. Mr. Hart was represented by Jacksonville lawyer David Lewis.

Subsequent to suit being filed, Mr. Lewis filed a motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to attach copies of the option agreement and the June 24, 1983, letter. During the hearing on the motion to dismiss, Respondent produced a copy of the June 24, 1983, letter and allowed Mr. Lewis to review it. Mr. Lewis testified that the letter he was shown at hearing

"one-third" of the shares (TR-79). Respondent testified that the copy he handed to Mr. Lewis contained the typewritten words "one-third", but those words had been crossed out and the words "one-fourth" were written above (TR-104).

The court ultimately denied the motion to dismiss, but instructed Respondent to file copies of the option agreement and the June 24, 1983, letter with the court.

After the aforementioned hearing, Respondent filed with the court a copy of the option agreement and the June 24, 1983, letter with the words "one-fourth" hand-written over the typewritten words "one-third."

Respondent testified that after his secretary typed up the June 24, 1983, letter, he penciled in the words "one-fourth" after crossing out the words "one-third" so that she could retype the letter and make the correction (TR-93). He further testified that he never knew that the letter delivered to Mr. Hart had the words "one-third" instead of "one-fourth" until discovery in the case was underway.

Respondent told the referee that the copy he filed with the trial court was his file copy and was the same one that he showed to Mr. Lewis on the day of the hearing on the motion to dismiss. He believed it to be the file copy of what had been delivered to Mr. Hart (TR-104-105). Respondent acknowledged

that he did not have a copy of the letter without the correction on it.

After Respondent filed suit against Mr. Hart on Mr. Williams' behalf, a bankruptcy court found the assets of Hart Enterprises had been obtained through a fraudulent transfer and it ordered the return of those assets (TR-100-102). Respondent then elected not to pursue the action against Hart because there were no assets in Hart Enterprises. The case was ultimately dismissed for lack of prosectuion (TR-82).

Case Number 68,512, Count I:

Prior to September 24, 1982, Statewide Collection Corporation (Statewide) attempted to collect a judgment held by Barnett Bank against Louis R. Perfetto. Ultimately, Mr. Perfetto's accounts were garnished and Statewide advised a local credit bureau that the judgment was satisfied.

Subsequent to the aforementioned letter, Statewide again initiated collection proceedings against Mr. Perfetto. Mr. Perfetto resisted collection because, he asserted, the judgment was paid in full in approximately May, 1980.

On September 24, 1982, Statewide wrote the credit bureau stating that Mr. Perfetto's account had not been paid in full. Respondent was sent a copy of that letter because he had

earlier intervened on behalf of Mr. Perfetto.

In an attempt to determine the facts involved, Mr. Mvers set Mr. Perfetto down for a deposition. On December 9, Myers sent a letter to Respondent mentioning the fact 1982. Mr. there was a possibility of a conflict of interest because Respondent had represented Barnett Banks of Florida in the past fe1t he knew their operating therefore Mr. Myers procedures. Statewide is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Barnett Banks of Florida.

testified could Respondent that he not verify Statewide's relationship with Barnett Bank (TR-130).Respondent contacted Billy Foote, Nonetheless, Mr. Vice-President οf Barnett Banks, and advised him potential conflict of interest.

On February 3, 1983, Mr. Perfetto was deposed and Respondent attended the deposition.

The Referee found that Respondent appeared as counsel for Mr. Perfetto at the deposition. Respondent testified he was representing Mr. Perfetto out of friendship and that his only obligation to Mr. Perfetto was to attempt to amicably resolve the dispute and to ascertain that the judgment had, in fact, been paid off (TR-51-56).

Ultimately, Respondent withdrew from the representation and the suit was presented to another attorney who obtained a

\$15,000 judgment against Statewide for improperly seizing Perfetto's car (TR-48,51).

In 1984, Statewide filed a three-count complaint against James Rohman on a judgment held by Barnett Bank. Subsequent to the suit being filed, Respondent called Mr. Myers and discussed a payment plan on Mr. Rohman's behalf. Mr. Myers testified that he advised Respondent that there was a conflict of interest involved in the matter.

Respondent's firm. Steve Koegler. lawver in а originally had handled the case as a favor to Mr. Rohman and had eventually referred to case to J. Thomas McKeel, another the Mr. McKeel filed a motion to dismiss lawver in the firm. Statewide's suit. No pleadings were signed by Respondent (TR-52).

On November 9, 1984, Respondent wrote a letter to Mr. Myers and enclosed an executed stipulation prepared by Myers (TR-42) on behalf of Mr. Rohman. Respondent never met Rohman, who was Respondent's partner's friend and client (TR-67).

Respondent testified that he only acted as a conduit on the matter since Mr. Koegler had moved into another office complex and because the Rohman file was still in Respondent's office.

Respondent testified that he did not think there was a conflict of interest in the case because the matter was

virtually settled when he sent the letter.

The Referee found that Respondent represented Barnett Banks of Florida, Inc. Respondent, however, testified that he only represented various individual Barnett Banks, such as Barnett Bank of Jacksonville, Barnett Bank of Central Florida and Barnett Bank of Orange Park. Furthermore, Respondent's work was limited to replevins, foreclosures and bankruptcies, not collections (TR-53-54).

Case Number 68,512; Count II:

On April 26, 1973, Respondent was the closing agent for the sale of property by Mrs. Helen Sebra to Gateway Chemicals of Jacksonville.

As part of the aforementioned closing, Respondent prepared a closing statement which reflected all of the expenses owed by Mrs. Sebra. Among those obligations was an outstanding judgment on the property in the amount of \$345.81. Respondent collected funds in the appropriate amount to retire the debt and deposited them into his trust account.

On April 27, 1973, Respondent discovered that \$248.50 in closing costs had not been paid by Mrs. Sebra. Her attorney, Gregory Darby, was informed of the deficiency.

Respondent had several telephone conversations with

Mrs. Sebra's attorney, Gregory Darby, between April 27, 1973, and July 23, 1973. During that time, Mr. Darby contended that Mrs. Sebra would not pay the additional costs.

On June 5, 1973, Respondent advised Mr. Darby that he would not satisfy the judgment until the additional closing costs were paid.

On or about June 24, 1973, Respondent received a check in the amount of \$248.50 representing Mrs. Sebra's unpaid obligations. At that time, Respondent wrote Mr. Darby stating I that he would withhold "any action on the judgment as your last indication was that you would handle the same." (Ex. 4).

Respondent never received further instructions from Mr. Darby about satisfying the judgment. Nonetheless, Respondent was able to satisfy the title exception on the title insurance policy and transferred title to Gateway Chemicals.

No further action was taken on the unpaid judgment until 1985, when Patricia Martin, Mrs. Sebra's new lawyer, wrote Respondent. Subsequent to receiving her letters, Respondent discovered the judgment had not been paid..

In 1973, Respondent's partner, Larry Figur, handled the trust accounts for the firm since he was also a CPA. In handling the monthly reconciliations of the trust account during that period, Mr. Figur never advised Respondent that Mrs. Sebra still had \$345.81 in escrow. Several years later, when the firm

was dissolved, Respondent took the trust funds belonging to his clients and Mr. Figur took the funds belonging to his clients. No surplusage was noted in Respondent's transfer of funds and no funds belonging to Mrs. Sebra (TR-19).

In 1973, Respondent had not yet installed a tickler system for periodically reviewing all open files and he never received any complaint from Mr. Darby on Mrs. Sebra's behalf.

On or about June 19, 1985, Respondent received a letter from Mrs. Sebra's new lawyer, Patty Martin, stating that the judgment was still outstanding. In that letter, Ms. Martin demanded Respondent's immediate satisfaction of the judgment along with interest because the judgment was interfering with Mrs. Sebra's sale of another piece of property.

At the time that he received Ms. Martin's letter, Respondent was no longer engaged full-time in the practice of law. At that time, he was going through a difficult and acrimonious divorce (TR-20).

Due to his divorce, Respondent delayed responding to Ms. Martin's request. On November 15, 1985, Respondent testified to a Grievance Committee that he would satisfy Ms. Sebra's judgment. However, six weeks later Respondent was hospitalized for 28 days and did not immediately accomplish his intents.

On April 28, 1986, Respondent paid the judgment against Mrs. Sebra, expending \$575.63 of his own funds to do so (TR-24,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent argues that the Referee erroneously found that he engaged in misconduct in Case 68,198, that his actions were not in violation of DR 5-105 (A), (C) and (D) of the Code of Professional Responsibility in Count I of Case 68,512 and that the Referee erroneously found that Respondent learned in 1983 that there was a problem with Mrs. Sebra's closing in 1973.

There was no motive for Respondent's falsifying the 24, 1983, letter at issue in this case. the June Respondent admits an innocent mistake in the proceedings--a clerical mishap, it happens in all offices. Because there had been an earlier exercise on June 7, 1983, of the option relevant these proceedings, Respondent's position was not prejudiced Ъy mathematical error in his June 24th letter. Under no it be circumstances can shown that Respondent in any way benefited from the difference in the wording.

The Referee's finding that Respondent violated TR 5-105(A) of the Code of Professional Responsibility is without evidentiary basis. That rule prohibits a lawyer accepting a client if his independent professional judgment on behalf of a client would be adversely affected by the acceptance of the employment. However, in the case at bar, the Florida Bar presented absolutely no evidence showing that at the time he

accepted his client's employment, that he was currently representing another client to the detriment of those clients.

In Count II of Case No. 68,512, the Referee found that Respondent admitted being put on notice in 1983 of the problem stemming from the closing he conducted in 1973. In fact, Respondent did not learn of the problem until 1985, and the problem was wrapped up within a year of his discovery. The Referee's mistake is material in that it led him to believe Respondent took three years to clear up a problem when, in essence, Respondent cleared it up in less than one-third that time.

Respondent also appeals the discipline recommended by the Referee in these proceedings. Even assuming all of the Referee's findings are upheld by this court, Respondent's misconduct warrants at most ninety days suspension.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT IN CASE NO. 68,198 CONSTITUTED UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR.

The facts in this case are virtually undisputed. On June 25, 1982, Respondent's client, Walter Williams, entered into an option agreement with Harold Hart to purchase for \$10 25% of a new corporation named Hart Enterprises. The option had to be exercised no later than June 25, 1983.

On June 7, 1983, Mr. Williams personally delivered to Mr. Hart a check for \$10 with notations indicating that the delivery of the check was the exercise of the option to purchase.

Seventeen (17) days later in an abundance of caution, Respondent hand-delivered a letter to Mr. Hart's residence on behalf of Mr. Williams once again exercising Mr. Williams' option to purchase. The letter, dated June 24, 1983, contained Respondent's check for \$10.

The original of the June 24, 1983, letter delivered to Mr. Hart mistakenly bore the indication "one-third" of the stock to be purchased, rather than "one-fourth" as contained in the option agreement. Similarly, Respondent's check had the indication that it was for one-third of the stock.

Despite the clear cut terms of the option agreement and Mr. Williams' June 7, 1983, tender of a check, and notwithstanding Respondent's letter, Mr. Hart refused to honor the terms of the option agreement. Subsequently, Respondent filed suit in an attempt to enforce the option agreement on Mr. Williams' behalf.

Mr. Hart retained a Jacksonville lawyer, David Lewis, to represent him in the suit brought by Respondent. In December, 1983, Mr. Lewis filed a motion to dismiss Respondent's complaint for failure to attach copies of the option

and the letter exercising the option. In January, 1984, Mr. Lewis' motion to dismiss was heard before the court. At that hearing, when Mr. Lewis indicated he did not have a copy of the June 24, 1983, letter, Respondent tendered his file copy of that letter. Here is the only material deviation in the testimony before the court.

Mr. Lewis testified that he clearly remembers seeing the words one-third on the letter tendered at the hearing interlineation on it (TR-79).and that there was no Respondent testified, however, that the only copy of the letter his file contained the interlineation one-fourth on it. Respondent testified that he showed that copy of the letter to the motion to dismiss hearing. Subsequently, Mr. Lewis at Respondent filed copies of the June 1982 option agreement and the interlineated June 24, 1983, file copy with the court.

Respondent's story, which is very plausible, is that interlineated file copy from the June 24, 1983, letter is a correction οf the original letter typed by Respondent's The letter was to be retyped and, for reasons secretary. the new corrected original was not delivered to unexplained, Mr. Hart. Respondent testified that the first time that he knew that the original delivered to Mr. Hart contained the words one-third was at Respondent's deposition subsequent to the hearing on Mr. Lewis' motion to dismiss.

During the pendency of the suit, the bankruptcy court ordered Mr. Hart to transfer all of the assets Enterprises back to the company that was in bankruptcy. that Mr. Hart had fraudulently bankruptcy judge ruled transferred the assets and therefore ordered them returned. Upon Respondent's learning that Hart Enterprises no longer had assets, he elected to discontinue the proceedings against ultimately, it was dismissed for lack of Mr. Hart and, prosecution.

Bar showed no reason for any misrepresentation by Respondent relative the issue of the interlineated copy of the 24, 1983, letter. Respondent's suit against Mr. Hart was June attempts by Mr. Williams to exercise his option based on two year period expiring June 25, 1983. First, Mr. within a one Williams personally delivered to Mr. Hart a \$10 check clearly bearing the words "25% of new corp (Hart Enterprises)" on it. was sufficient exercise under the option agreement. Respondent's June 24, 1983, letter was delivered in abundance of caution.

It simply beggars the imagination to believe that Respondent, as found by the Referee, would deliberately file a letter bearing interlineation in an attempt to deceive the court, when he knew that the original indicated otherwise. Deception like that is simply too easy to discover and it would be fool-hardy for any individual to attempt such a falsehood.

This is particularly significant when one considers that Respondent had absolutely nothing to gain through such deception.

Another plausible theory is that Respondent erroneously and unknowingly delivered the uncorrected original June 24, 1983, letter to Mr. Hart and threw away the corrected original through oversight. Mr. Lewis' testimony that he clearly remembers seeing no interlineation must be tempered by the fact that he had probably seen the original letter in Mr. Hart's possession and he saw what he believed to be the case.

The Referee's gratuitous finding that "the timing was critical because a bankruptcy action was instituted" is simply not warranted. The bankruptcy action to which he refers had been filed prior to the June 24, 1983, letter. By the time the January 1984 hearing was held, timing was no longer crucial. This is particularly the case since the assets belonging to Hart Enterprises were being removed from the company and returned to their source.

The Florida Bar must prove by clear and convincing evidence that misconduct took place. In the case at hand, the absence of a motive for wrongdoing completely emasculates the Bar's position. Respondent's theory of the events that occurred are not only plausible, but are likely. The Referee's findings of misconduct on Respondent's part are inappropriate.

II. THE REFEREE IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT VIOLATED DR 5-105 IN HIS REPRESENTATION OF LOUIS PERFETTO AND J. CHRISTOPHER ROHMAN.

The Referee found that Respondent was guilty of a classic conflict of interest in violation of DR 5-105 because he represented Louis Perfetto in one case and J. Christopher Rohman in another. Those individuals had interests adverse to Statewide Collection Agency, a subsidiary of Barnett Banks of Florida, Inc..

The Referee's finding of misconduct is absolutely erroneous, however, because there is no finding of simultaneous representation.

The provisions of the Code of Professional Responsibility that the Referee found Respondent violated read as follows:

- DR 5-105. Refusing to accept or continue employment if the interests of another client may impair the independent professional judgment of the lawyer.
 - (A) A lawyer shall decline proffered employment if the exercise of his independent professional judgment in behalf of a client will be, or is likely to be, adversely affected by the acceptance of the proferred employment, except to the extent permitted under DR 5-105(C).

- (C) In the situations covered by DR 5-105(A) and (B), a lawyer may represent multiple clients if it is obvious that he can adequately represent the interest of each and if each consents to the representation after full disclosure of the possible effect of such representation on the exercise of his independent professional judgment on behalf of each.
- (D) If a lawyer is required to decline employment or to withdraw from employment under DR 5-105, no partner or associate of his or his firm may accept or continue such employment.

The Florida Bar presented no evidence to show that at the time that Respondent or his law firm accepted the cases of Mr. Perfetto or Mr. Rohman that he was simultaneously representing any Barnett Banks. Accordingly, the Bar has not proved by clear and convincing evidence that there was a violation of that provision.

The Referee found that Respondent represented Barnett Banks of Florida, Inc. However, the Referee makes no finding of simultaneous representation. He never gives any time frames for the representation

The alleged conflict between Respondent and Statewide is tenuous at best. Respondent's alleged conflict with Statewide, the collection agency, as to Perfetto and Rohman, is that Statewide is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Barnett Banks of

Florida, Inc. The banks for which Respondent did replevin, bankruptcy and foreclosure work are individual Barnett Banks that are also owned by Barnett Banks of Florida, Inc. Respondent did no collection work for any of these banks.

The Referee would have this court rule that a lawyer that occasionally represents subsidiaries of a company in certain types of action, has a conflict of interest if clients of his are sued by a separate subsidiary company on different types of action and on matters in which the subject matter is entirely unrelated to Respondent's prior representation. Such a connection is tenuous at best.

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