THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

68,512

617

vs.

STANLEY B. GELMAN,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JAMES N. WATSON, JR. The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

Counsel for Complainant

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

The Referee's findings in Case No. 68,198 are to be given substantial weight in that there is clear and substantial evidence to support the findings. Respondent's conduct in filing altered documents without informing the court was violative of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

ISSUE II

The actions of Respondent in dealing with Statewide Collection Corporation were in conflict with an ongoing relationship with Barnett Bank who had a right to expect a duty of Respondent to protects its ultimate interests.

ISSUE III

Respondent completely ignored all the requirements of trust accounting rules of The Florida Bar by withholding proceeds from a real estate sale and failing to satisfy a lien with such funds for thirteen years.

-7-

ISSUE IV

The cumulative effect of the misconduct set forth in the complaint when taken with Respondent's past record of two private reprimands justifies a six-month suspension.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT IN CASE NO. 68,198 CONSTITUTED UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR

Respondent argues that the Referee improperly found that he was guilty of misconduct in the above referenced case since he claims there was an absence of a showing of a motive for such misconduct.

The initial fact-finding responsibility in disciplinary matters is imposed upon the referee and his findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. McCain</u>, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978). The findings and conclusions of a referee or circuit judge are accorded substantial weight and will not be overturned unless they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Wagner</u>, 212 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1968).

While Respondent admits that the facts surrounding this matter are undisputed he argues such facts do not support a finding of misconduct.

The basic facts are undisputed that Respondent had only one copy of the letter before Judge Martin and refused to file said copy. Also this letter provided for the purchase of one-third of the stock from Hart.

-9-

Respondent argues such substitution would have been beyond the imagination since he knew the original says otherwise. If Respondent's testimony is reviewed he is not sure what the original says since he has no idea what was delivered to Hart. This can be seen in his confusion as to how the letter was corrected or what was actually delivered.

Respondent would have the Court believe that the original letter to Hart was for one-quarter since he claims this mistake was corrected before delivery. A review of the check from Respondent delivered simultaneously also shows a purchase of one-third and this was prepared by Respondent. Respondent, at the grievance committee level, blamed the mistake on faulty dictation equipment (T-97). Since Respondent prepared the check rather than his secretary, such an excuse is not viable.

Complainant would argue that Respondent was not sure what had been delivered to Hart and in an attempt to conform his evidence with the allegations of his complaint, interlineated one-fourth with the one-third in the letter he had present with him before Judge Martin.

Respondent's second "plausible" theory of Mr. Lewis' recollection of the viewing of the letter at the motion hearing is tempered by his having seen the original cannot be considered. Mr. Lewis testified (T-78) that at the time Respondent filed suit he did not have copies of either documents. Therefore, he had not seen the document (letter) before being shown it by Respondent.

-10-

Respondent argues that since the actions complained of would be foolhardy that should be sufficient to have the findings of the Referee overturned. Such an argument could be applied to any misconduct where eventual discovery is likely.

Respondent's explanation of how the "mistake" occurred does not satisfy the ultimate questions represented. Respondent's answers at the final hearing are not constant with those given under oath to the grievance committee (T-93-97).

Respondent argues that he was not even aware of the problem until after his deposition was taken by Lewis. Even after this problem was brought to his attention, Respondent failed to notify the Court of the filing of improper evidence. From the evidence and testimony presented to the Referee, it is clear that Respondent did not know exactly what he had delivered to Hart.

It is also apparent that some question was present regarding the alleged initial exercise of the option since Respondent felt that a second execution was needed. In order to assure the validity of the second execution, Respondent felt that it was necessary for the exhibits to comport with the allegations of the complaint.

It is undisputed that Respondent misrepresented certain facts to the court at the Motion to Dismiss and to Mr. Lewis, an officer of the court. These misrepresentations were never corrected or made known to the court by the Respondent. These facts offer clear and

-11-

convincing evidence of misconduct. The mere existence of conflicting evidence has never been sufficient in and of itself to negate the findings of a referee.

Respondent's argument is akin to an attack on circumstantial evidence in a criminal case by attempting to show that some other explanation of the "crime" exists. Important to the charges and proofs brought against Respondent herein is the Referee's conception of Respondent as being an attorney who is more concerned with finding ways of getting around the Code of Professional Responsibility than living within it.

Since the findings of the Referee are seen as being based on undisputed facts and are not clearly erroneous, the findings should not be overturned.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT VIOLATED DR 5-105 IN HIS REPRESENTATION OF LOUIS PERFETTO AND J. CHRISTOPHER ROHMAN

Respondent argues that the Referee improperly found him in violation of DR 5-105 in that there was no evidence of a conflict of interest between Respondent's clients, Perfetto and Rohman, and Statewide Collection Corporation (SCC), a wholly owned subsidiary of Barnett Banks of Florida, a holding company.

Respondent's initial statement under its argument begs the question since he believes the conflict lies with SCC when it is clearly evident that the conflict lies with Respondent and his then client, Barnett Bank. This should be clear in that Respondent never worked for or represented SCC in any manner.

As testified to by Mr. Meyers, house counsel for SCC, Respondent was repeatedly made aware of the existence of an apparent conflict in his representing Perfetto in an action by SCC and later he and his firm in representing Rohman. The existence of the conflict stemmed from Respondent's continuing representation of Barnett Banks and his representation of two clients whose interest were adverse to Barnett's best interest.

Through the testimony of Mr. Meyers and the Respondent, it was shown that Barnett Banks was a client of Respondent at the time he

-13-

represented Perfetto until his divorce in 1985 which also included the time he represented Rohman.

This Court has ruled that except in exceptional circumstances, an attorney may not represent conflicting interests in the same transaction no matter how well-meaning his motive or however slight such adverse interest may be. <u>The Florida Bar v. Moore</u>, 194 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1966). In this instance, Respondent was being retained on a continuous basis by Barnett Bank to protect their interests in various types of collection cases. In representing both Perfetto and Rohman, Respondent was defending actions being brought on behalf of his client Barnett Banks through SCC.

In <u>Moore</u>, this Court held that a lawyer represents "conflicting interests" when it becomes his duty on behalf of one client to contend for that which his duty to another client would require him to oppose. <u>Supra</u>. The obvious nature of Respondent's representation of Barnett Banks was the protection of their obligations and recovery of outstanding obligations. In representing Perfetto and Rohman, Respondent was attempting to defeat a right belonging to the Barnett Banks. The interest of Barnett Banks is evidently clear here and there is no tenuous attempt to tie in unrelated interests.

The evidence presented to the Referee is sufficient to demonstrate that the ultimate beneficiary of SCC's legal actions was Barnett and not SCC. This is evident from Mr. Meyers'

-14-

unrebutted testimony that it was the collection arm of Barnett and was paid for its services rather than owning the obligations it sought to enforce.

Respondent would have the Court believe that he had no knowledge of such potential conflict even during the Rohman matter which succeeded the Perfetto case and the attendant repeated admonitions by Meyers therein. Respondent's contention that he had disclosed such problems to the appropriate officials of Barnett cannot be given substance in the absence of a waiver by Barnett in response to the echoed concerns of Meyers in the Rohman matter.

In dealing with the Rohman action, Meyers testified that the only personal contact with opposing counsel was through the Respondent. Respondent desires the Court to believe that Rohman was not his client but that Rohman was a client of another lawyer with whom he was associated. The testimony and evidence are totally contrary to such an argument since all pleadings went out over the firm name of which Respondent was associated.

To further solidify Complainant's argument of the existence of a conflict of interest, Respondent's firm ultimately withdrew from representing Rohman alleging the conflict that Meyers had alleged since the Perfetto case.

Contrary to the argument presented by Respondent, the evidence showed that Respondent was actively representing Barnett's ultimate

-15-

interest during those times he represented the interest of Perfetto and Rohman against Barnett Bank's positions. However slight it may be viewed by Respondent, his primary duty was owed to Barnett. Such a showing supports the correctness of the Referee's findings of misconduct under DR 5-105.

ISSUE III

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT LEARNED IN 1983 THAT HE FAILED TO SATISFY A JUDGMENT FOR WHICH HE RECEIVED TRUST FUNDS IN 1973 IS CORRECT

Respondent places a great deal of importance upon the Referee's apparent mistake as to that date when he learned of his failure to pay off the lien on Ms. Sebra's property. Complainant makes no argument that there was a mistake as to dates concerning Respondent's conduct in this matter, however, such a mistake has no bearing on the ultimate findings of the Referee as to Respondent's misconduct.

Respondent would argue this matter is but a simple oversight and there was no violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility. Complainant would argue that if Respondent was attendant to the rules of discipline in the first place this incident would not have occurred.

Respondent cannot justify not paying off this lien on any of his excuses. he was primarily responsible for satisfying the lien because it was he who withheld the proceeds for that particular purpose. Respondent was responsible for reconciling his trust accounts and this is not something which can only be done "when there's a problem." (T-17). Respondent's law firm separated in 1974 and resulted in an opportunity for file review which should have uncovered the unpaid lien.

If Respondent followed the trust accounting procedures of the Bar, the remaining money for Ms. Sebra's lien would have appeared each quarter in his reconciliations.

Respondent has argued that he should not be held to the Referee's findings and recommendations since it only took him one year (June 1985 to April 1986) to pay off the lien after notice rather than three years as per the Referee's Report. Respondent was notified by Sebra's lawyer in June 1985 that he had failed in his duty to satisfy the lien. In November 1985, Respondent assured the Grievance Committee hearing this matter he would be happy to satisfy the Sebra judgment (T-21). The formal complaint herein was filed March 26, 1986 and Respondent thereafter promptly satisfied this judgment in April 1986. Such action on Respondent's part clearly shows that he only complies with his duty when it is only absolutely necessary.

Respondent argues that there should be no finding of misconduct under DR 1-102(A)(4) since there is no basis for the Referee's finding. To the contrary, Respondent's mishandling of this matter is replete with dishonesty and misrepresentation throughout. The final payment was made with personal funds since the trust funds were not

-18-

available. The only remaining explanation is that the funds were misappropriated.

The remaining violations set forth in the Referee's Report are substantiated by clear and convincing evidence and cannot be categorized as a simple oversight.

ISSUE IV

THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE, SUSPENSION FOR SIX MONTHS, IS NOT UNDULY HARSH IN VIEW OF RESPONDENT'S MULTIPLE VIOLATIONS.

Respondent argues that under the guidelines of <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970), the Referee's Recommendation of a six-month suspension is inappropriate since it only focuses on the element of retribution.

Complainant feels that all three elements within <u>Pahules</u> are present herein and were considered by the Referee. Respondent is not new to the disciplinary system having been privately reprimanded on two prior occasions. It would appear that such an attorney who having been forewarned of his conduct on two occasions and continues to run his practice around the rules rather than within them is not qualified to retain the public's trust.

The length of suspension recommended by the Referee is fair and consistent and allows the Respondent a period of time to reflect upon his perception of his duties to the profession.

Under Florida law, this Court has held that discipline is cumulative. <u>The Florida Bar v. Reese</u>, 421 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1982); <u>The Florida Bar v. Leopold</u>, 399 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1981). Respondent has been disciplined for similar misconduct on two prior occasions and was forewarned each time that such behavior is not to be tolerated.

As the Referee accurately observed at the final hearing, Respondent has established a pattern where he operates his legal practice under a premise of how he can get around the Code of Professional Responsibility rather than living within it. This is born out in each matter attendant to this appeal - Respondent has an excuse for each instance of alleged misconduct and has no conception of what his professional duties and responsibilities are.

Florida case law does provide for discipline that is parallel t that recommended by the Referee.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Segal</u>, 441 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1983), an attorney was suspended for twelve (12) months where an attorney neglected a legal matter, failed to carry out a contract of employment, and failed to pay out funds belonging to a client.

Misconduct in handling trust funds and improper trust accounting have justified three-month suspensions. <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Hoffman</u>, 157 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1963); <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 446 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1984).

-21-

In <u>State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Calhoon</u>, 102 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1958), the Supreme Court held that a six-month suspension was warranted where an attorney engaged in conduct prejudicial to administration of justice.

CONCLUSION

The findings of the Referee are supported by clear and convincing evidence and should not be reversed.

Respondent's misconduct must be evaluated in a cumulative manner both in view of the complaint's allegations and previous misconduct. Taking the cumulative nature of Respondent's misconduct into consideration the recommended six-month suspension is appropriate.